

approve the Petition, find the negotiated discipline of a one-year suspension, running *nunc pro tunc* from August 25, 2020, is justified and recommend that it be imposed by the Court.

II. FINDINGS PURSUANT TO D.C. BAR R. XI, § 12.1(c)
AND BOARD RULE 17.5

The Hearing Committee, after full and careful consideration, finds that:

1. The Petition and Affidavit are full, complete, and in proper order.
2. Respondent is aware that there is currently pending against him an investigation involving allegations of misconduct. Tr. 12¹; Affidavit ¶ 2.
3. The allegations that were brought to the attention of Disciplinary Counsel arose from a Department of Justice Office of the Inspector General report dated December 2019, as well as Respondent's subsequent guilty plea to the felony of making a false statement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3). Petition at 1-2; Affidavit ¶ 2.
4. Respondent has freely and voluntarily acknowledged that the material facts and misconduct reflected in the Petition are true. Tr. 13; Affidavit ¶¶ 4, 6. Specifically, Respondent acknowledges that:

(1) Respondent is a member of the Bar of the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, having been admitted on November 7, 2008, and assigned Bar number 984265.

(2) On August 19, 2020, Respondent pled guilty in the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia to one count of making a false statement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3).

¹ "Tr." Refers to the transcript of the limited hearing held on July 19, 2021.

(3) As part of Respondent's guilty plea, he stipulated that had the case gone to trial, the government's evidence would have proved, beyond a reasonable doubt, the facts laid out below in ¶¶ 4 - 15.

(4) From July 12, 2015 to September 21, 2019, Respondent was employed full-time with the Federal Bureau of Investigation as an Assistant General Counsel in the National Security and Cyber Law Branch of the FBI's Office of General Counsel. As part of Respondent's duties and responsibilities, Respondent assisted FBI Special Agents and Supervisory Special Agents in connection with applications prepared by the FBI and the National Security Division ("NSD") of the United States Department of Justice to conduct surveillance under the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act.

(5) On July 31, 2016, the FBI opened an investigation known as Crossfire Hurricane into whether individual(s) associated with the Donald J. Trump for President Campaign were aware of and/or coordinating activities with the Russian government. By August 16, 2016, the FBI had opened individual cases under the Crossfire Hurricane umbrella on four United States persons, including a case involving Carter Page.

(6) Respondent was assigned to provide legal support to FBI personnel working on Crossfire Hurricane. One of Respondent's tasks was to communicate with another specific United States government agency (the "Other Government Agency," or "OGA") to raise questions or concerns for the Crossfire Hurricane team.

(7) As part of his responsibilities, Respondent provided support to FBI Special Agents and Supervisory Special Agents working with the NSD to prepare FISA applications to obtain authority from the United States Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court to conduct surveillance on Page. There were a total of four court-approved FISA applications targeting Page. Each alleged that there was probable cause that Page was a knowing agent of a foreign power, specifically Russia.

(8) On August 17, 2016, prior to the approval of the first FISA application, the OGA provided certain members of the Crossfire Hurricane team – but not the Respondent – a memorandum indicating that Page had been approved as an "operational contact" for the OGA from 2008 to 2013 and detailing information that Page had provided to the OGA concerning Page's prior contacts with certain Russian intelligence officers.

(9) The first three FISA applications did not include Page's history or status with the OGA.

(10) Prior to submission of the fourth FISA application, Carter Page publicly stated that he had assisted the United States Government in the past. During the preparation of the fourth FISA application, an FBI Supervisory Special Agent asked Respondent to inquire with the OGA as to whether Page had ever been a "source" for that agency.

(11) Respondent knew that if Carter Page had been a source for the OGA, that information would need to be disclosed in the fourth FISA application.

(12) On June 15, 2017, Respondent sent an email to a liaison at the OGA (the "Liaison") stating: "We need some clarification on [Carter Page]. There is an indication that he may be a '[designation redacted]' source. This is a fact we would need to disclose in our next FISA renewal . . . To that end, can we get two items from you? 1) Source Check/Is [Carter Page] a source in any capacity? 2) If he is, what is a [designation redacted] source (or whatever type of source he is)?"

(13) Later that same day, the Liaison provided Respondent with a list (but not copies) of memoranda previously provided to other members of the Crossfire Hurricane team, including a reference to the above referenced August 17, 2016 Memorandum, as well as an explanation that the OGA uses:

the [designation redacted] to show that the encrypted individual . . . is a [U.S. person]. We encrypt the [U.S. persons] when they provide reporting to us. My recollection is that [Page] was or is . . . [designation redacted] but the [memoranda] will explain the details. If you need a formal definition for the FISA, please let me know and we'll work up some language and get it cleared for use.

(14) It was not typical for someone in Respondent's position to review the memoranda listed in the Liaison's email. Respondent's role generally was to conduct legal reviews of the FISA applications, not to obtain, review, or evaluate the underlying documents related to the applications. That was the case agent's role.

(15) As such, the same day that Respondent received the Liaison's email, he forwarded it—including the list of memoranda that would “explain the details” of Page's relationship with the OGA—to the case agent and the case agent's acting supervisor. Upon receiving the email, the case agent's supervisor responded by telling the case agent (copying Respondent) that she would “pull these [memoranda] for you tomorrow and get you what you need.”

(16) Respondent responded that same day to the Liaison via email with: “Thanks so much for that information. We're digging into the [memoranda] now, but I think the definition of the [designation redacted] answers our questions.”

(17) The following day, Respondent also forwarded the Liaison's email to the DOJ attorney drafting the FISA renewal application. The DOJ attorney replied to Respondent, “thanks I think we are good and no need to carry it further.”

(18) On June 19, 2017, the FBI Supervisory Special Agent followed up with an instant message to Respondent, asking, “Do you have any update on the [OGA source] request?” During a series of instant messages between Respondent and the Supervisory Special Agent, Respondent indicated that Page was a “subsource,” “was never a source,” and that the OGA “confirmed explicitly he was never a source.” When asked whether he had that in writing, Respondent stated that he did and would forward the email that the OGA provided to Respondent.

(19) Immediately following the instant messages between the Respondent and the SSA, Respondent forwarded the Liaison's June 15, 2017 email to the SSA with alterations that Respondent had made so that the Liaison's email read as follows:

the [designation redacted] to show that the encrypted individual . . . is a [U.S. person]. We encrypt the [U.S. persons] when they provide reporting to us. My recollection is that [Page] was or is “[designation redacted]” **and not a “source”** but the [memoranda] will explain the details. If you need a formal definition for the FISA, please let me know and we'll work up some language and get it cleared for use.

(emphasis added). Respondent knew that the original email from the Liaison did not contain the words “and not a source.” Respondent knowingly and willfully altered the email making it appear that the OGA’s Liaison had written in the email “and not a source[.]”

(20) Relying on the altered email, the Supervisory Special Agent signed and submitted the fourth FISA application on June 29, 2017. This application also did not include Page’s history or status with the OGA.

(21) Respondent violated the following provisions of the District of Columbia Rules of Professional Conduct and D.C. Bar Rules:

a. Rule 8.4(b) in that Respondent committed a criminal act that reflected adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects, namely making a false statement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3);

b. Rule 8.4(c) in that Respondent engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation; and

c. D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(d), in that Respondent was convicted of a serious crime as defined by D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(b) because his offense was a felony involving false swearing, misrepresentation, and/or fraud.

5. Respondent is agreeing to the negotiated disposition because Respondent believes that he cannot successfully defend against discipline based on the stipulated misconduct. Tr. 11-12; Affidavit ¶ 5.

6. Disciplinary Counsel has made no promises to Respondent other than its agreement not to pursue any charges or sanctions arising out of the conduct described in the Petition. Petition at 8; Affidavit ¶ 7. Respondent confirmed during the limited hearing that there have been no other promises or inducements other than those set forth in the Petition. Tr. 30.

7. Respondent has conferred with his counsel. Tr. 8-9; Affidavit ¶ 1.

8. Respondent has freely and voluntarily acknowledged the facts and misconduct reflected in the Petition and agreed to the sanction set forth therein. Tr. 31; Affidavit ¶ 6.

9. Respondent is not being subjected to coercion or duress. Tr. 31; Affidavit ¶ 6.

10. Respondent is competent and was not under the influence of any substance or medication that would affect his ability to make informed decisions at the limited hearing. Tr. 9-10.

11. Respondent is fully aware of the implications of the disposition being entered into, including, but not limited to, the following:

- a) he has the right to assistance of counsel if Respondent is unable to afford counsel;
- b) he will waive his right to cross-examine adverse witnesses and to compel witnesses to appear on his behalf;
- c) he will waive his right to have Disciplinary Counsel prove each and every charge by clear and convincing evidence;
- d) he will waive his right to file exceptions to reports and recommendations filed with the Board and with the Court;
- e) the negotiated disposition, if approved, may affect his present and future ability to practice law;
- f) the negotiated disposition, if approved, may affect his bar memberships in other jurisdictions; and
- g) any sworn statement by Respondent in his affidavit or any statements made by Respondent during the proceeding may be used to impeach his testimony if there is a subsequent hearing on the merits.

Tr. 36-38; Affidavit ¶¶ 9-10, 12.

12. Respondent and Disciplinary Counsel have agreed that the sanction in this matter should be one-year suspension, running *nunc pro tunc* from August 25, 2020, the date on which Respondent self-reported his guilty plea to the Court, Disciplinary Counsel, and the Board.² Petition at 9; Tr. 15.

13. Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent agree to the following aggravating factors: “(a) As a Department of Justice lawyer, Respondent enjoyed a position of trust; and (b) Respondent’s misconduct occurred during an *ex parte* process where it is particularly important that a lawyer not cause [sic] inaccurate representations.” Petition at 13; Tr. 34. Disciplinary Counsel also asserts that “Respondent’s misconduct has been used to discredit what appeared otherwise to have been a legitimate and highly important investigation.” Petition at 13; Tr. 34-35.

14. Disciplinary Counsel and Respondent agree to the following mitigating factors:

(a) Respondent has no prior discipline; (b) Respondent has taken full responsibility for his misconduct and has demonstrated remorse; (c) Respondent has fully cooperated with Disciplinary Counsel; (d) prior to the facts leading to his criminal offense, Respondent had over a decade of distinguished public service; (e) Respondent’s conduct was not motivated by any personal financial, economic, or commercial motive; (f) Respondent’s conduct involves only a single incident, not a pattern of misconduct; (g) the sentencing judge credited Respondent’s explanation that he had wrongly believed that the information he was inserting into the email was accurate; and (h) the sentencing judge, who is also the presiding judge of the [Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court (“FISC”)], concluded that “even if [Respondent] had been accurate about

² The Petition does not specify that Respondent notified the Court of his guilty plea; however, Respondent provided proof in a post-hearing supplemental filing that he gave notice to the Court on August 25, 2020. Letter, Yaffe to Hearing Committee No. 4 at unnumbered pages 2-16 (July 19, 2021). Disciplinary Counsel has not contested this proof.

Dr. Page’s relationship with the [OGA], the warrant may well have been signed and the surveillance authorized.”

Petition at 12 (second and third alterations in original); *see* Tr. 31-32.

15. Respondent also asserts that:

(a) . . . [I]t was not his intent to deceive his colleagues or the court about Page’s relationship with the OGA; (b) . . . although he was not yet suspended, he voluntarily stopped practicing law or seeking legal employment in December 2019 while this matter was under investigation by the government and Disciplinary Counsel; and (c) the December 2019 DOJ IG Report states that days before sending the altered email, Respondent emailed the *unaltered* information he received from the OGA to (1) Page’s case agent, who was responsible for requesting the fourth FISA application and providing the factual basis for the request, (2) that agent’s acting supervisor, and (3) the DOJ NSD attorney responsible for drafting and submitting the fourth FISA application to the FISC.

Petition at 12-13 (emphasis in original); *see* Tr. 32-33.

16. There were no complainants in this matter; thus, no individuals were entitled to provide written comments or make statements during the limited hearing pursuant to Board Rule 17.4(a).

III. DISCUSSION

The Hearing Committee shall recommend approval of an agreed petition for negotiated discipline if it finds that:

- 1) The attorney has knowingly and voluntarily acknowledged the facts and misconduct reflected in the petition and agreed to the sanction therein;
- 2) The facts set forth in the petition or as shown at the hearing support the admission of misconduct and the agreed upon sanction; and
- 3) The sanction agreed upon is justified.

D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12.1(c); *see also* Board Rule 17.5(a)(i)-(iii).

A. Respondent Has Knowingly and Voluntarily Acknowledged the Facts and Misconduct and Agreed to the Stipulated Sanction.

The Hearing Committee finds that Respondent has knowingly and voluntarily acknowledged the facts and misconduct reflected in the Petition and agreed to the sanction therein. Respondent, after being placed under oath, admitted the stipulated facts and charges set forth in the Petition, and denied that he is under duress or has been coerced into entering into this disposition. *See* Paragraphs 8-9, *supra*. Respondent understands the implications and consequences of entering into this negotiated discipline. *See* Paragraph 11, *supra*.

Respondent has acknowledged that any and all promises that have been made to him by Disciplinary Counsel as part of this negotiated discipline are set forth in writing in the Petition and that there are no other promises or inducements that have been made to him. *See* Paragraph 6, *supra*.

B. The Stipulated Facts Support the Admissions of Misconduct and the Agreed-Upon Sanction.

The Hearing Committee has carefully reviewed the facts set forth in the Petition and established during the hearing, and we conclude that they support the admissions of misconduct and the agreed-upon sanction. Moreover, Respondent is agreeing to this negotiated discipline because he believes that he could not successfully defend against the misconduct described in the Petition. *See* Paragraph 5, *supra*.

With regard to the second factor, the Petition states that Respondent violated Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4(b) (criminal act that reflects adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects). The

evidence supports Respondent's admission that he violated Rule 8.4(b) in that the stipulated facts describe that Respondent pled guilty to the criminal act of making a false statement in violation of 18. U. S. C. § 1001(a)(3), which prohibits making a "false writing or document knowing the same to contain any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement." *See* Paragraph 4.(2), *supra*.

The Petition further states that Respondent violated Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4(c) (dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation). The evidence supports Respondent's admission that he violated Rule 8.4(c) in that the stipulated facts describe that Respondent, in connection with an application to be filed with the FISC, knowingly and willfully altered an email to add the words, "and not a source," and forwarded that email to a colleague. Respondent knowingly and willfully altered the email making it appear that those words were in the original email. *See* Paragraph 4.(19) and (20), *supra*. Making a material alteration in the email constituted a misrepresentation in violation of Rule of Professional Conduct 8.4(c).

The Petition further states that Respondent violated D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(d) (conviction of a serious crime). The evidence supports Respondent's admission that he violated D.C. Bar R. XI, § 10(d) in that the stipulated facts describe that Respondent pled guilty to 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3), a felony and a serious crime. *See* Paragraph 4.(2), *supra*.

C. The Agreed-Upon Sanction Is Justified.

The third factor the Hearing Committee must consider is whether the sanction agreed upon is justified. *See* D.C. Bar R. XI, § 12.1(c); Board Rule 17.5(a)(iii); *In re Johnson*, 984 A.2d 176, 181 (D.C. 2009) (per curiam) (providing that a negotiated

sanction may not be “unduly lenient”). Based on the record as a whole, including the stipulated circumstances in aggravation and mitigation, the Hearing Committee Chair’s *in camera* review of Disciplinary Counsel’s investigative file and *ex parte* discussion with Disciplinary Counsel, Respondent’s post-hearing submission, and our review of relevant precedent, we conclude that the agreed-upon sanction is justified and not unduly lenient, for the following reasons:

1. Respondent was not convicted of a crime of moral turpitude.

If a criminal conviction involves moral turpitude, disbarment is the required sanction. D.C. Code § 11-2503(a). Moral turpitude is described as “[a]n act of baseness, vileness or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellow men or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty” *In re Colson*, 412 A.2d 1160, 1168 (D.C. 1979) (quoting 2 Bouvier’s Law Dictionary 2247 (Rawle’s Third Revision)). Moral turpitude involves “manifest intentional dishonesty for the purpose of personal gain . . . rather than simply ‘misguided’ actions.” *In re Sims*, 844 A.2d 353, 365 (D.C. 2004); *see also, e.g., In re White*, 698 A.2d 483, 485 (D.C. 1997) (per curiam) (disbarment for committing perjury and making false statements in passport applications, with intent to defraud); *In re Susman*, Bar Docket No. 024-00, at 18-20 (BPR Mar. 23, 2004) (recommending disbarment for lying under oath and making false statements, motivated by personal gain), *recommendation adopted*, 876 A.2d 637 (D.C. 2005) (per curiam).

This Hearing Committee is required to “evaluate independently [Disciplinary] Counsel’s decision that a particular criminal conviction does not involve moral

turpitude on the facts or that the proof is insufficient.” *In re Rigas*, 9 A.3d 494, 498 (D.C. 2010) (quoting Board Report).³

We conclude that Disciplinary Counsel was correct in deciding that Respondent’s criminal conviction does not involve moral turpitude.

Making a false statement does not involve moral turpitude *per se*. See Order, *In re Clinesmith*, Board Docket No. 20-BD-052 (BPR Mar. 2, 2021) (concluding that making a false statement in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3) is not a crime of moral turpitude *per se* and referring the matter to a Hearing Committee “to determine whether Respondent’s conduct involved moral turpitude on the facts, and to recommend the final discipline to be imposed”); see also, e.g., *In re Squillacote*, 790 A.2d 514, 521 (D.C. 2002) (per curiam) (appended Board Report) (finding that conviction under 18 U.S.C § 1001 was not a crime of moral turpitude *per se*). Thus, the central question is whether Respondent committed a crime of moral turpitude on the facts, which turns on whether there is clear and convincing evidence that Respondent had an intent to deceive or defraud or was motivated by personal gain in making the misrepresentation. See *Sims*, 844 A.2d at 365; *White*, 698 A.2d at 485.

³ Consistent with the framework set forth in *Rigas*, 9 A.3d at 497, the Petition certifies that (1) that the crime does not involve moral turpitude *per se*; (2) Disciplinary Counsel has exhausted all reasonable means of inquiry to find proof in support of moral turpitude, and explained those efforts; (3) Disciplinary Counsel does not believe that there is sufficient evidence to prove moral turpitude on the facts; (4) all of the facts relevant to a determination of moral turpitude are set forth in the petition; and (5) any cases regarding the same or similar offenses have been cited in the petition. Petition at 8-9.

While the Petition does not reach a conclusion as to Respondent’s actual state of mind and, specifically, whether he intended to deceive his colleagues or the FISC, the parties stipulate, *inter alia*, that “Respondent’s conduct was not motivated by any personal financial, economic, or commercial motive”; that it involved “only a single incident, not a pattern of misconduct”; and that the sentencing judge credited his explanation that he had “wrongly believed that the information he was inserting into the email was accurate.” *See* Paragraph 14, *supra*. Further, the Petition includes Respondent’s affirmative representation that it was not his intent to deceive his colleagues or the court, and that the 2019 DOJ IG report states that Respondent sent the unaltered information to other colleagues just days before making the alteration. *See* Paragraph 15, *supra*.

We recognize that Respondent pleaded guilty to a Criminal Information that charged that he “willfully and knowingly ma[de] and use[d] a false writing and document, knowing the same to contain a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statement.” Criminal Information, Attach. B, Statement of Disciplinary Counsel on the Issue of Moral Turpitude *Per Se*, *Clinesmith*, Board Docket No. 20-BD-052, at 4.⁴ However, the Statement of Offense in Support of the Guilty Plea (“Statement of Offense”) did not assert that Respondent knew that the altered email contained a *fraudulent* statement:

In truth, and in fact, and as the defendant well knew, the original June 15, 2017 email from the OGA Liaison did not contain the words “not a

⁴ The Hearing Committee takes judicial notice of the Criminal Information and Statement of Offense in the underlying criminal matter, which were attached to Disciplinary Counsel’s Statement on the Issue of Moral Turpitude *Per Se*, filed with the Board before the Board referred this matter for a hearing. *See* Order, Board Docket No. 20-BD-052 (BPR Mar. 2, 2021).

source,” and therefore, when the defendant altered and forwarded the email on June 19, 2017, the defendant made and used a writing or document, specifically an email, that contained a statement or entry he knew was materially false; in doing so the defendant acted knowingly and willfully; and the email pertained to a matter within both the jurisdiction of the executive branch and judicial branch of the Government of the United States.

Statement of Offense, Attach. C, Statement of Disciplinary Counsel on the Issue of Moral Turpitude *Per Se*, *Clinesmith*, Board Docket No. 20-BD-052, at 6. The Statement of Offense, signed by the United States, asserted that it “fairly and accurately summarizes and describes [Respondent’s] actions and involvement in the offense to which he is pleading guilty.” *Id.* at 7. The offense of conviction, 18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(3), is written in the disjunctive, as it required the United States to prove only that the defendant knew that the writing “contain[ed] any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or entry.” (emphasis added).

All of the evidence regarding Respondent’s intent supports the contention that he did not act with fraudulent intent. As nothing in the record explains the variance between the language in the Criminal Information and that in the Statement of Offense, and only the language in the Criminal Information supports the conclusion that Respondent made a fraudulent statement, we do not believe that the language in the Criminal Information is dispositive as to Respondent’s state of mind. We conclude that Disciplinary Counsel gathered the available evidence regarding Respondent’s state of mind and that the evidence is not sufficient to establish by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent altered the email for his own personal gain or to intentionally mislead or deceive his colleagues or the FISC.

2. A one-year suspension is justified in light of sanctions imposed for cases involving similar misconduct in contested cases.

A one-year suspension is “justified, and not unduly lenient” in light of sanctions imposed for cases involving similar misconduct in contested cases. *See* Board Rule 17.5(a)(iii). Sanctions for a violation of Rule 8.4(b) involving a conviction of making a false statement or dishonesty to the government often involve a one-year suspension. *See In re Belardi*, 891 A.2d 224, 224-25 & n.1 (D.C. 2006) (per curiam) (one-year suspension for making false statements to the Federal Communications Commission in order to maintain construction permits for paging transmitters); *In re Bowser*, 771 A.2d 1002, 1003 (D.C. 2001) (per curiam) (one-year suspension for making false statements to the Immigration and Naturalization Service (“INS”) in connection with a client’s effort to become a naturalized citizen); *In re Sweeney*, 725 A.2d 1013 (D.C. 1999) (per curiam) (one-year suspension for making false statements in relation to documents required by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, a felony, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1027); *In re Cerroni*, 683 A.2d 150, 151-52 (D.C. 1996) (per curiam) (one-year suspension with Continuing Legal Education for knowingly making and submitting a false statement and report to U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development in connection with a real estate transaction, a felony, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1010); *In re Thompson*, 538 A.2d 247, 247-48 (D.C. 1987) (per curiam) (one-year suspension for knowingly assisting in the presentation false statements to the INS in connection with a client’s effort to become a permanent resident alien); *see also Rigas*, 9 A.3d at 496, 498-99 (approving a one-year suspension in a negotiated

discipline case for making a false statement in connection with a stock purchase, a misdemeanor, in violation of 47 U.S.C. § 220(e)).

In light of these cases, a one-year suspension is not “unduly lenient.”

3. The parties’ agreement that Respondent’s suspension should run *nunc pro tunc* from August 25, 2020 is justified.

When discipline is imposed on an attorney who already is suspended on an interim basis, the sanction typically will run *nunc pro tunc* to the effective date of the interim suspension, as long as the attorney promptly files the affidavit required under D. C. Bar Rule XI, Section 14(g) (“14(g) Affidavit”).

In this instance, the parties agree that the suspension should run from a date prior to the interim suspension – from August 25, 2020, “the date on which Respondent promptly self-reported his guilty plea to Disciplinary Counsel and the Board on Professional Responsibility.” Petition at 9.

Following a respondent’s guilty plea, D.C Bar Rule XI, Section 10(a) requires the respondent to file, within ten days, a copy of the plea with the Clerk of the D.C. Court of Appeals and the Board on Professional Responsibility, and for Disciplinary Counsel to promptly file a copy with the Court if it learns that the plea has not otherwise been filed.

Respondent entered a guilty plea on August 19, 2020, and on August 25, 2020, reported his plea to the Clerk of the D.C. Court of Appeals and the Board on Professional Responsibility. *See* Paragraphs 4.(2), 12 & n.2, *supra*. On that same date,

he also reported it to Disciplinary Counsel.⁵ See Paragraph 12, *supra*. Disciplinary Counsel did not promptly report the plea to the Court of Appeals, but eventually reported it to the Court in January 2021,⁶ and the Court issued an order suspending Respondent on February 1, 2021. Petition at 9. On February 3, 2021, Respondent timely filed the 14(g) Affidavit stating, *inter alia*, that he had not practiced law since September 21, 2019, and had not had any clients since September 21, 2019. See 14(g) Affidavit, *Clinesmith*, Board Docket No. 20-BD-052, at 2. The parties agree that Respondent had not practiced law since his guilty plea (August 19, 2020). Petition at 10.⁷

The Hearing Committee agrees that having Respondent's suspension run *nunc pro tunc* from August 25, 2020 is justified. While it is unusual for a suspension to run from a date earlier than the interim suspension, the Court has recognized it to be

⁵ It appears that Disciplinary Counsel was not aware that Respondent had notified the Court. See Tr. 17.

⁶ The Petition states: "Because Respondent and Disciplinary Counsel were negotiating this petition, Disciplinary Counsel did not promptly report the plea to the Court and initiate a disciplinary proceeding under D. C. Bar R. XI, § 10." At the limited hearing, Disciplinary Counsel noted difficulties in obtaining and filing original certified copies of the plea (as required) due to pandemic restrictions. Tr. at 18. Whatever the reasons for the delay by Disciplinary Counsel, Disciplinary Counsel agrees that Respondent was not at fault for Disciplinary Counsel's delay in notifying the Court, and thus, the delay in the imposition of the interim suspension. Tr. at 19.

⁷ In the Petition, Respondent states that he "voluntarily stopped practicing law or seeking legal employment in December 2019 while this matter was under investigation by the government and Disciplinary Counsel." Petition at 12. This was communicated to Disciplinary Counsel. Tr. 21, 27. Respondent's 14(g) Affidavit does not specify when he stopped seeking legal employment; therefore, this statement that respondent ceased practicing law *or seeking legal employment* does not appear to conflict with Respondent's representation that he stopped practicing law in September 2019. The statement that Respondent has not practiced law since his guilty plea appears to have been included as additional clarification and does not imply that he continued to practice law at any point after September 21, 2019.

appropriate in certain cases. In those instances, the respondents were not practicing law during the period of self-suspension and were not at fault for delaying the interim suspensions. *See In re Malady*, Board Docket No. 10-BD-020, at 2-4 (BPR July 29, 2011) (recommending suspension run *nunc pro tunc* from the date of conviction where the respondent received an interim suspension over one year after he had notified Disciplinary Counsel, the Board, and the Court of his guilty plea), *recommendation adopted*, 26 A.3d 783 (D.C. 2011) (per curiam); *In re Laguna*, 749 A.2d 749 (D.C. 2000) (per curiam) (granting a suspension *nunc pro tunc* from the date of guilty plea where the respondent was enrolled in the federal witness protection program and the record of the plea was under seal for more than two years, which delayed the interim suspension).

Similarly in the context of reciprocal discipline, the Court has permitted reciprocal suspensions to run from the effective date of the foreign suspension but has stressed the importance of the respondent fulfilling his or her reporting requirements. *See In re Goldberg*, 460 A.2d 982 (D.C. 1983) (per curiam) (“If the attorney ‘promptly’ notifies [Disciplinary] Counsel of any professional disciplinary action in another jurisdiction as he or she is required to do under Rule XI, . . . and if the attorney voluntarily refrains from practicing law in the District of Columbia during the period of suspension in the original jurisdiction, then there will probably be no reason to aggravate the discipline by making the District of Columbia suspension wholly or partially consecutive to that imposed elsewhere.”).

In this instance, Respondent fully complied with the requirements of Rule XI, § 10(a), was not responsible for the delay in the issuance of the interim suspension

order, and has not practiced law in the District of Columbia since before August 25, 2020. We agree that this is a case that warrants the retroactive running of the period of suspension to what was in effect a self-suspension.⁸

IV. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

It is the conclusion of the Hearing Committee that the discipline negotiated in this matter is appropriate.

For the reasons stated above, it is the recommendation of this Hearing Committee that the negotiated discipline be approved and that the Court impose a one-year suspension, running *nunc pro tunc* from August 25, 2020.

⁸ The Court in *In re Soininen*, 853 A.2d 712 (D.C. 2004) expressed concern about “secret, unilateral suspensions” and the ability to monitor such self-suspension. 853 A.2d at 727-28. In *Soininen*, the respondent claimed a self-imposed suspension pending a disciplinary proceeding. She notified Disciplinary Counsel nine months after she claimed to have discontinued practicing law. In fact, she continued to represent clients. The circumstances of this case eliminate the concerns expressed in *In re Soininen*. Respondent’s employment as a government lawyer ended in September 2019, and he voluntarily stopped practicing law or seeking employment in December 2019 while the matter was under investigation. Petition at 2, 12. He informed Disciplinary Counsel of this. Tr. 21, 27. There was attendant publicity around his case. Tr. 24, 27. Respondent complied with all reporting requirements, timely notifying the Court of his plea in August 2020 and timely filing his 14(g) Affidavit in February 2021, shortly after its order of interim suspension. Respondent’s 14(g) Affidavit attested that he had not had any clients since September 2019. The substance of that affidavit would have been the same had the Court issued an interim suspension in the August/September 2020 timeframe. Tr. 22.

HEARING COMMITTEE NUMBER FOUR



Rebecca C. Smith, Esquire
Chair



Dr. Robin J. Bell
Public Member



Arlus J. Stephens, Esquire
Attorney Member